In the Supreme Court of the State of California

)	No. S258912
In re)	
)	Court of Appeal
Rico Ricardo Lopez,)	(First District,
)	Division One)
)	No. A152748
)	
On Habeas Corpus,)	Sonoma County
)	Superior Court
)	No. SCR-32760

Petitioner's Opening Brief on the Merits

On Review from the Decision of the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division One

> From a Judgment of the Superior Court for the County of Sonoma

Honorable Dana Beernink Simonds, Judge (habeas corpus proceedings)

Honorable Raima Ballinger, Judge (jury trial)

Issue for Review

Petitioner Rico Ricardo Lopez's petition for review framed the issue as follows:

"Does submission to a jury of an unauthorized natural and probable consequences theory of aiding and abetting a first degree murder, in violation of *People v. Chiu* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 155, require reversal of a first degree murder conviction, when another verdict by the jury may reflect a finding of intent to kill, but the other verdict did not require any finding of premeditation and deliberation, and other indicia in the record suggest that the jury may have relied on the unauthorized natural and probable consequences theory to convict the defendant?" (Petitioner Lopez's petition for review, p. 6.)

Petitioner submits that the answer to this question must be yes.

However, petitioner respectfully submits that, to resolve this issue, it is necessary to address two sub-issues:^{1'}

First, when the record contains indications that the jury considered a legally invalid theory, are such indications dispositive in a reviewing court's assessment of whether it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury based its verdict on the invalid theory, such that the court should not hold the error harmless based on its view of the strength of the evidence in favor of a legally valid theory?

Second, does a jury's true finding on a gang-murder special circumstance fail to establish that the jurors found the defendant both intended to kill and premeditated and deliberated, and therefore fail to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury convicted the defendant on a legally valid theory of first degree murder instead of the legally invalid natural and probable consequences theory of aiding and abetting liability?

^{1.} See Cal. Supreme Ct., Issues Pending Before the California Supreme Court in Criminal Appeals (April 10, 2020), p. 5 [*In re Lopez*, S258912; "This case presents the following issues: (1) Does a true finding on a gang-killing special circumstance (Pen. Code, § 190.2, subd. (a)(22)) render *Chiu* error (*People v. Chiu* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 155) harmless? (2) To what extent or in what manner, if any, may a reviewing court consider the evidence in favor of a legally valid theory in assessing whether it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury based its verdict on the valid theory, when the record contains indications that the jury considered the invalid theory? (See *People v. Aledamat* (2019) 8 Cal.5th 1.)"].

Petitioner submits that the answers to both of these questions must be yes as well.

//

//

Introduction to Opening Brief on the Merits

In this People's appeal from the Superior Court's order granting a writ of habeas corpus, petitioner argued that his conviction of first degree murder must be reversed under *People* v. *Chiu, supra,* 59 Cal.4th 155, because it is not clear beyond a reasonable doubt that his jury based his conviction on a legally valid theory that he both intended to kill and premeditated and deliberated, rather than an invalid theory that a first degree murder was a natural and probable consequence of a target offense aided and abetted by him. (Slip opinion, p. 7.)^{2/}

However, the Court of Appeal erroneously rejected his contention. (Slip opinion, pp. 7, 11.) The Court acknowledged that the prosecutor argued that the jury could convict petitioner of first degree murder based on the invalid theory (Slip opinion, p. 3) and that "the jury was considering the [invalid] natural and probable consequences doctrine because jurors sent a note to the trial court on the subject." (Slip opinion, p. 9.) But the Court erroneously dismissed the significance of these events, instead focusing on two things: (1) the evidence supporting a conviction under a legally valid theory, and (2) the jury's true finding on the gang-murder special circumstance. (Slip opinion, pp. 9-11.)

Prior to the Court of Appeal's opinion, this Court in People v. Aledamat (2019) 8 Cal.5th 1 affirmed that alternative-

^{2. &}quot;Slip opinion" refers to the slip opinion in No. A152748, the People's appeal from the Superior Court's order granting petitioner a writ of habeas corpus.

theory error is subject to the harmless error test in *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24 [17 L.Ed.2d 705, 87 S.Ct. 824] and stated, "The reviewing court must reverse the conviction unless, after examining the entire cause, including the evidence, and considering all the relevant circumstances, it determines the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." (*Aledamat, supra*, at p. 3.)

This Court should now clarify that indications in the record that the jury considered the invalid theory are dispositive to the prejudice inquiry, so that when such indications are present, the reviewing court should not hold the error harmless based on its view of the strength of the evidence in favor of a legally valid theory. This approach ensures that the harmless error inquiry focuses on whether an error actually contributed to the jury's verdict, not whether the evidence would have supported a valid verdict. In addition, this Court should clarify that a reviewing court should not hold alternative-theory error harmless based on its conclusion that the evidence in favor of a valid theory of conviction is either sufficient to support such a conviction or so overwhelming as to compel such a conviction, unless it can conclude there is no reasonable possibility that one or more jurors could have convicted the defendant under the invalid theory based on the evidence.

This Court should also clarify that a jury's true finding on a gang-murder special circumstance, which requires a finding of intent to kill but not premeditation and deliberation, cannot establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury convicted the defendant of first degree murder based on a legally valid theory requiring both intent to kill and premeditation and deliberation, rather than an invalid theory that a premeditated and deliberate murder by an accomplice was a natural and probable consequence of a target offense aided and abetted by the defendant.

Applying these principles, this Court should hold that the *Chiu* error at petitioner's trial cannot be held harmless, because the record indicates that the jury considered the invalid theory. Furthermore, the true finding on the gang-murder special circumstance does not make it clear beyond a reasonable doubt that petitioner's jury convicted him of first degree murder on a legally valid theory, because the jury was never required to find premeditation and deliberation. This Court should reverse the judgment of the Court of Appeal, and affirm the Superior Court's order granting the writ of habeas corpus to set aside petitioner's conviction of first degree murder.

 \parallel

 \parallel

Statement of the Case

A first consolidated information charged petitioner Rico Ricardo Lopez and four codefendants, Peter James Amante, Patrick George Higuera, Jr., Mario Ochoa-Gonzalez, and Rogelio Javier Cardenas, with committing the murder (§ 187, subd. (a))^{3/} of Ignacio Mesina Gomez, and alleged a gang-murder special circumstance (§ 190.2, subd. (a)(22)) and a gang enhancement (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)). (6 CT 1072-1073 (No. A113655); 1 CT 65; 3 CT 564 (No. A152748).)^{4/}

At trial, the court instructed the jury concerning the natural and probable consequences theory of aiding and abetting liability for murder. (1 CT 148 (No. A152748).) The prosecutor encouraged the jury to consider this theory to convict petitioner of murder and even first degree murder. (1 CT 193-196; 2 CT 285-286, 340-341, 343-344, 347 (No. A152748).) The jury sent an inquiry to the court during deliberations, disclosing its interest in the theory. (2 CT 361, 363 (A152748).)

^{3.} Section references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise specified.

^{4.} CT and RT refer respectively to the Clerk's Transcript and Reporter's Transcript on appeal. However, there are two records on appeal that pertain to this case. Although petitioner will typically cite to the record in this habeas corpus appeal in No. A152748, he will sometimes need to cite to the record in his earlier direct appeal in No. A113655. Simultaneous with the filing of this brief, petitioner is filing a request that this Court take judicial notice of the record in No. A113655 pursuant to Evidence Code section 452, subdivision (d).

The jury found petitioner and codefendants Amante, Higuera, and Cardenas guilty of first degree murder and found the gang-murder special circumstance and gang enhancement allegations true as to each of them. (11 CT 2146, 2150, 2154, 2158 (No. A113655); 1 CT 65; 3 CT 549-550, 564 (No. A152748).) The jury acquitted codefendant Ochoa-Gonzalez of murder, but convicted him of accessory after the fact (§ 32) and found the gang enhancement true. (28 RT 6953-6954; 12 CT 2328 (No. A113655).)

The court sentenced petitioner to life imprisonment without possibility of parole. (13 CT 2483, 2505, 2614 (No. A113655); 1 CT 65; 3 CT 552, 564 (No. A152748).)

The Court of Appeal filed its opinion in petitioner's direct appeal in No. A113655, affirming the judgment and rejecting his challenge to the instruction that permitted the jury to convict petitioner of first degree murder based on the natural and probable consequences doctrine of aiding and abetting liability. (1 CT 59, 69, 80, 133 (No. A152748).) This Court denied petitioner's petition for review in No. S176967.

Petitioner subsequently filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus. (1 CT 1 (No. A152748).) The Superior Court issued an order to show cause. (2 CT 365 (No. A152748).) The People filed a Return. (2 CT 376 (No. A152748).) Petitioner filed a Traverse (Answer). (3 CT 653 (No. A152748).)

The Superior Court granted the petition for writ of habeas corpus, reversing petitioner's first degree murder conviction. (4 CT 784-792 (No. A152748).)

In a People's appeal, the Court of Appeal filed its

opinion in No. A152748, reversing the Superior Court's order granting a writ of habeas corpus and remanding with instructions to reinstate the original judgment. (Slip opinion, pp. 1, 11.)

This Court granted petitioner's petition for review in No. S258912.

//

//

Statement of Facts

A. Introduction and Summary

Petitioner and three codefendants (Peter Amante, Rogelio Cardenas, and Patrick Higuera) were tried and convicted of first degree murder for the stabbing death of Ignacio Gomez. A fourth codefendant (Mario Ochoa-Gonzalez) was tried and acquitted of murder but convicted of accessory. (11 CT 2146, 2150, 2154, 2158; 12 CT 2328; 28 RT 6953-6954.)^{5/}

The events surrounding the stabbing were described by Kacee Dragoman, the mother of Amante's child, and Lindsay Ortiz, a good friend of both Dragoman and Amante. (14 RT 3436-3441; 17 RT 4155.) They testified that the five defendants, Norteño gang members (20 RT 4949, 4967-4987, 5025, 5043, 5082, 5088), were gathered at Amante's apartment when they heard whistling outside, which defendants attributed to rival Sureño gang members. (13 RT 3131; 14 RT 3450-3451; 15 RT 3499-3500; 17 RT 4169-4171; 20 RT 4931.) Some of the men armed themselves with kitchen knives; all five then rushed out to locate the source of the whistling. (14 RT 3450-3453; 15 RT 3499-3501; 17 RT 4169-4173.) Upon arriving at a dark area

^{5.} All record citations in petitioner's Statement of Facts are to the record on appeal in petitioner's earlier direct appeal in No. A113655. The Court of Appeal's opinion in petitioner's direct appeal in No. A113655 sets forth a more abbreviated statement of facts. (1 CT 60-65 (No. A152748).) The Court of Appeal's opinion in the appeal from the order granting a writ of habeas corpus in No. A152748 sets forth an even more abbreviated statement of facts. (Slip opinion, p. 2.)

by a creek under a bridge, some of the men assaulted Gomez, who died as a result of 41 stab wounds. (14 RT 3459-3460; 15 RT 3508; 16 RT 3851, 3853, 3868-3871; 17 RT 4181-4184.)

An eyewitness, Miguel Sandoval, identified Amante as the man who stabbed Gomez. (16 RT 3939-3941, 3886; 19 RT 4856, 4862; 21 RT 5297.)

No eyewitness identified petitioner as stabbing Gomez or possessing a knife before or during the attack. But Ortiz recalled that after the stabbing, she saw blood on petitioner's jersey and shoes; Dragoman saw blood on his shoes but did not recall seeing blood on his jersey. (14 RT 3462; 15 RT 3518, 3561; 17 RT 4198, 4276.) Dragoman recalled petitioner trying to put a broken piece of a knife handle into her pocket. (17 RT 4194; 18 RT 4400-4401.) Ortiz heard petitioner proclaim, "This is for Cinco de Mayo," a reference to a prior incident when Sureño gang members stabbed Amante. (15 RT 3524, 3563, 3573; 17 RT 4231.)

However, Dragoman admitted she was friends with all defendants except petitioner. (17 RT 4155, 4216-4217.) Similarly, Ortiz was friends with all defendants but did not even like petitioner. (14 RT 3435-3443; 15 RT 3578, 3701.) Both Dragoman and Ortiz repeatedly took steps to dispose of evidence. (15 RT 3613; 17 RT 4194, 4201, 4204-4205; 18 RT 4400-4401.) Both signed immunity agreements requiring them to testify. (15 RT 3536-3538; 17 RT 4214-4215, 4306.) A criminalist did not believe a broken knife blade piece found at the scene was used in the stabbing due to the small amount of blood. (17 RT 4072.) Richard Smith, an in-custody informant, claimed that petitioner threatened him, "I'll kill you just like I killed that guy in the creek." (19 RT 4683.) But Smith admitted that he hoped his testimony would help him at sentencing in his forgery case (19 RT 4654, 4668, 4674), and that he had written many letters from jail to the prosecutor, asking for a variety of favors. (19 RT 4699, 4705-4707.)

B. The Stabbing Victim

Ignacio Gomez lived in a homeless encampment that included people who associated with Sureños, near Stony Point Creek in Santa Rosa. (13 RT 3106-3111.) Gomez typically wore blue, associated with Sureños, had a Sureño girlfriend, and would whistle to other Sureños. (13 RT 3112-3114, 3130-3133.)

C. Events Before the Stabbing, According to Lindsay Ortiz and Kacee Dragoman

On the night of June 26, 2002, petitioner was socializing with Rogelio Cardenas (Titi), Patrick Higuera (Drifter), Mario Ochoa-Gonzalez (Chucky), Peter Amante (Whacky), Kacee Dragoman, and Lindsay Ortiz at Amante and Dragoman's residence at Stony Creek apartments. (14 RT 3436-3438, 3440, 3444-3446; 17 RT 4156, 4158, 4162, 4165.)

Dragoman was the mother of Amante's child. (17 RT 4155.) Cardenas, Higuera, and Ochoa-Gonzalez were Dragoman's friends, but petitioner was not. (17 RT 4216-4217.)

Lindsay Ortiz was a friend of Amante and Dragoman. (14 RT 3435-3439.) She was "really good friends" with Amante, her child's godfather. (14 RT 3436, 3441.) She considered Cardenas and Higuera friends, and was sometimes friendly with Ochoa-Gonzalez, but did not like petitioner. (14 RT 3441-3443; 15 RT 3578, 3701.)

The apartment overlooked Santa Rosa Creek, which was separated from the apartment complex by a fence. (14 RT 3449; 15 RT 3499, 3587; 17 RT 4156-4168.) Dragoman heard the whistle of the Sureños gang, rivals to the Norteños, the gang with which she and Amante were associated. (17 RT 4169-4170.) Ochoa-Gonzalez said there were Sureños on the other side of the fence. (13 RT 3131; 14 RT 3450-3451; 15 RT 3499; 20 RT 4931.)

Amante, Cardenas, Higuera, Ochoa-Gonzalez, and petitioner ran into the kitchen; someone opened kitchen drawers. (14 RT 3452-3453; 15 RT 3501; 17 RT 4172.) The five men went outside, followed by Ortiz and Dragoman. (14 RT 3453; 17 RT 4172-4173.) Amante wore a red 49ers shirt, probably over a white undershirt. (15 RT 3564; 17 RT 4188.) Petitioner wore a black and white Raiders jersey. (17 RT 4188.)

Once outside, Ortiz and Dragoman helped Amante extricate himself from being stuck on a fence between the apartments and the creek. (14 RT 3453-3454; 17 RT 4174, 4176.) Ortiz saw a 12-inch butcher knife fall out of Amante's pants. (14 RT 3454-3455; 15 RT 3567.) Dragoman and Ortiz walked on the path to Stony Point Road. (14 RT 3456.) According to Ortiz, Amante ran with the knife in his upraised hand toward a man, woman, and baby near a car on a bridge. (14 RT 3456-3457; 15 RT 3507-3508.) According to Dragoman, Amante made rude comments to the people and dropped his knife. (17 RT 4177-4178, 4180.) According to Ortiz, Dragoman stopped Amante and took his knife. (14 RT 3456-3458; 15 RT 3508.) But according to Dragoman, Amante picked up the knife and put it in his pants. (17 RT 4179.) Amante was drunk. (15 RT 3510; 17 RT 4175.)

Amante then went down the path toward the creek. (14 RT 3459; 15 RT 3508; 17 RT 4181-4183.) Ortiz never saw anyone but Amante hold a knife. (15 RT 3512, 3557.) Dragoman saw Amante and Higuera encounter each other on the path and walk together toward the creek. (17 RT 4183-4184.)

D. Events Following the Stabbing, According to Ortiz and Dragoman

After a time, the men returned up the path from the creek. (17 RT 4183-4184.) Ortiz recalled that Ochoa-Gonzalez, Cardenas, and petitioner came up the path first. (14 RT 3461.) Blood was on petitioner's white Raiders jersey. (14 RT 3462; 15 RT 3518.) Amante and Higuera then came up the path. (14 RT 3462-3463.) Higuera put his arm, which was cut and bleeding, around Ortiz. (14 RT 3462; 15 RT 3611.)

The five defendants and two women walked on the road to return to the apartment. (14 RT 3463; 17 RT 4184.) When a police car drove by, everyone concealed their faces. (14 RT 3463; 15 RT 3520; 17 RT 4189.) Petitioner tried to put the black handle of a broken knife into Dragoman's pocket, but she stopped him. (17 RT 4194; 8 RT 4400-4401.)

According to Ortiz and Dragoman, petitioner appeared to be excited and pretty happy after they returned to the apartment. (15 RT 3525; 17 RT 4196.) Petitioner was wearing a blue beanie with the word Sur on it. (15 RT 3524; 17 RT 4190, 4196.) Petitioner talked about "eating" people and about the person dying. (15 RT 3524.) Petitioner told Amante, "This is for Cinco de Mayo," but Amante responded, "What the fuck are you talking about." (15 RT 3524, 3573.) Amante had been stabbed by Sureño gang members on Cinco de Mayo, requiring hospitalization. (15 RT 3563; 17 RT 4231.)

Ochoa-Gonzalez paced back and forth, seeming scared and worried. (15 RT 3525, 3560; 17 RT 4192.) Higuera talked on the phone and applied pressure to his arm. (17 RT 4197.) Cardenas washed his hands. (17 RT 4191-4192.)

Ortiz and Dragoman asked petitioner and Ochoa-Gonzalez to change out of their clothes. (15 RT 3526; 17 RT 4193, 4198.) Ortiz saw blood on petitioner's jersey and shoes, and Dragoman saw blood on petitioner's shoes, but neither one saw blood on Ochoa-Gonzalez's clothes. (15 RT 3561; 17 RT 4198, 4260, 4276-4277.) Ortiz and Dragoman washed the clothes in the laundry. (15 RT 3527-3528; 17 RT 4199.)

Dragoman took a broken black knife handle petitioner had been carrying and flushed it down the toilet. (17 RT 4194; 18 RT 4400-4401.) It came from a knife block in Amante and Dragoman's kitchen. (17 RT 4195.) She put the beanie petitioner was wearing in the trash. (17 RT 4201.) Dragoman put the knife Amante was carrying in a kitchen drawer. (17 RT 4196.) Ortiz burned the sweatshirt she was wearing when Higuera put his arm around her. (15 RT 3613.) A week or two later, Dragoman realized that knives were missing from her block, and that each knife had the same serial number, and thought, "Wow, we need to get rid of these." (15 RT 4204.) She and Amante took the other knives and knife block and dumped them on the side of a road. (17 RT 4204-4205.)

E. Events Surrounding the Stabbing From Miguel and Rebecca Sandoval's Perspective on the Bridge Over the Creek

On the night of the stabbing, Miguel and Rebecca Sandoval stopped their car on the bridge to talk to Miguel's father. (16 RT 3741-3742, 3834-3835.) They saw men climbing over a fence by the apartment complex. (16 RT 3743, 3835.)

According to Rebecca, Ochoa-Gonzalez and another man walked past them on the bridge and continued down to the creek. (16 RT 3743-3744.) A minute later, Higuera and another man arrived on the scene. (16 RT 3745-3746.) One man, who had a black handle in his hand, asked Miguel whether he banged Norte, but Miguel said he was just there to talk to his father. (16 RT 3749, 3837, 3845-3846.) Those four men walked down the path under the bridge, but Ochoa-Gonzalez did not go all the way. (16 RT 3747-3748.) Amante and two women appeared and walked down the path under the bridge. (16 RT 3750-3752, 3756.)

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