FILED WITH PERMISSION

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

In re

RICO RICARDO LOPEZ,

On Habeas Corpus.

Case No. S258912

First Appellate District Division One, Case No. A152748 Sonoma County Superior Court, Case No. SCR32760 The Honorable Dana Simonds, Judge

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

on the element of materiality harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because "evidence that Neder failed to report over \$5 million in income . . . incontrovertibly establishe[d] that [his] false statements were material." (*Id.* at p. 16.) Thus, *Neder*—like *Yates*—continued to place the emphasis of the harmlessness inquiry on gauging the effect of the evidence on the jury absent the error.⁸

Lopez all but ignores *Neder*, instead relying heavily on *Sullivan v. Louisiana* (1993) 508 U.S. 275 for the proposition that *Chapman* focuses "on whether the error actually contributed to the jury's verdict, not whether the evidence supported the verdict." (OBM 38-39, citing *Sullivan*, at pp. 279-280.) But the

⁸ Although Lopez focuses on whether one or more jurors could have convicted the defendant under the invalid theory (OBM 43), Neder spoke of "a rational jury" rather than individual jurors. (Neder, supra, 527 U.S. at p. 17.) And the United States Supreme Court long ago rejected "single juror" analysis. (Harrington v. California (1969) 395 U.S. 250, 254 ["It is argued" that we must reverse if we can imagine a single juror whose mind might have been made up because of [erroneously admitted] confessions and who otherwise would have remained in doubt and unconvinced. We of course do not know the jurors who sat. Our judgment must be based on our own reading of the record and on what seems to us to have been the probable impact of the two confessions on the minds of an average jury"]; see also Strickland v. Washington (1984) 466 U.S. 668, 695.) Varying the objective analysis of prejudice based on the number of fact finders would increase the chance of error being harmless error as the number of fact finders decreased. Although the United States Supreme Court has used a "one or more jurors" standard in the context of a capital case and its heightened reliability concerns (e.g., Cone v. Bell (2009) 556 U.S. 449, 475), it did not thereby reject *Harrington*'s holding.

defendant in *Neder* similarly relied on *Sullivan* in arguing "that a finding of harmless error may be made only upon a determination that the jury rested its verdict on evidence that its instructions allowed it to consider," not upon even "overwhelming record evidence of guilt the jury did not *actually* consider" because the jury was unaware of the relevant element. (*Neder*, *supra*, 527 U.S. at p. 17.) *Neder* rejected that argument, observing that "in the context of an omitted element, . . . the jury's instructions preclude any consideration of evidence relevant to the omitted element, and thus there could be no harmless-error analysis." (*Id.* at pp. 17-18; see also *Gonzalez*, *supra*, 54 Cal.4th at p. 666 ["the *Neder* court concluded a demonstration of harmless error does not require proof that a particular jury *actually* rested its verdict on the proper ground" (internal quotation marks omitted).])

In other words—as noted *ante* in Argument I.A—finding an instructional error harmless only if the jury actually convicted on a valid theory would mean that omission of an element would *never* be harmless. (See *Neder*, *supra*, 527 U.S. at p. 17 [argument based on *Sullivan* was "at bottom . . . simply another form of the argument that a failure to instruct on any element of the crime is not subject to harmless-error analysis"].) Having already concluded the opposite—i.e., that "harmless-error analysis is appropriate in such a case"—*Neder* held that the harmless error inquiry for instructional error "must be essentially the same" as that for constitutional evidentiary errors: "Is it clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational

juror would have found the defendant guilty absent the error?" (*Id.* at p. 18; accord, *Gonzalez*, *supra*, 54 Cal.4th at p. 663.)

Answering that question, the high court explained, "will often require that a reviewing court conduct a thorough examination of the record." (Neder, supra, 527 U.S. at p. 19; accord, Gonzalez, supra, 54 Cal.4th at p. 666.) "If, at the end of that examination, the court cannot conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error[,] . . . it should not find the error harmless." (Neder, at p. 19.) Inversely, the failure to instruct on an element is harmless unless "the record contains evidence that could rationally lead to a contrary finding with respect to the omitted element." (Ibid.; accord, Gonzalez, at p. 666; Mil, supra, 53 Cal.4th at p. 417.) Thus, Neder reaffirmed Yates's conclusion that the prejudice inquiry for instructional error focuses on what the jury rationally would have concluded on the evidence before it, without being limited to what the jury actually did conclude.

Nine years after *Neder*, the United States Supreme Court clarified in *Hedgpeth v. Pulido* (2008) 555 U.S. 57 that the prejudice inquiry for alternative-theory error should track that of other constitutional instructional errors. In language echoed by this Court in *Aledamat*, the high court acknowledged: "Although [*Neder* and other] cases did not arise in the context of a jury instructed on multiple theories of guilt, one of which is improper, nothing in them suggests that a different harmless-error analysis should govern in that particular context." (*Hedgepeth*, at p. 61; accord, *Aledamat*, *supra*, at p. 11.) "In fact, drawing a distinction

between alternative-theory error and the instructional errors in *Neder* [and other cases] would be patently illogical, given that such a distinction reduces to the strange claim that, because the jury received both a good charge and a bad charge on the issue, the error was somehow more pernicious than where the *only* charge on the critical issue was a mistaken one." (*Ibid.*, internal quotation marks omitted.)⁹

Yates, Neder, and Hedgpeth thus reinforce the same principles that this Court espoused in Aledamat. First, a court reviewing alternative-theory error should examine the entire record, especially the state of the evidence. Second, the evidentiary review should focus on the strength of the evidence in favor of a lawful theory of guilt rather than requiring the evidence in favor of the unlawful theory to be weak. Third, an error is harmless not only if the jury actually did convict on a valid theory, but also if no reasonable doubt exists that the jury would have convicted on that theory had it been properly

⁹ While *Hedgpeth* "involved collateral review on habeas corpus," *Aledamat* noted that subsequently "the high court 'clarif[ied]' that harmless-error analysis 'applies equally to cases on direct appeal." (*Aledamat, supra,* 8 Cal.5th at p. 11, quoting *Skilling v. United States* (2010) 561 U.S. 358, 414, fn. 46.) Moreover, "*Hedgpeth*'s statement that nothing 'suggests that a different harmless-error analysis should govern' alternative-theory error . . . leaves no doubt that the same *Chapman* analysis of harmless error applies to alternative-theory error as applies to other kinds of misdescription of the elements." (*Aledamat,* at p. 11, quoting *Hedgpeth, supra,* 555 U.S. at p. 61.)

instructed. As discussed at length in Argument I.A, these principles are fatal to Lopez's proposed protocol. ¹⁰

Lopez cites to a single sentence from one post-Neder case to support the proposition that the United States Supreme Court "continue[s] to analyze harmlessness by focusing on what the jury actually did." (OBM 39, quoting McDonnell v. United States (2016) 136 S.Ct. 2355, 2375 ["Because the jury was not correctly instructed on the meaning of 'official act,' it may have convicted Governor McDonnell for conduct that is not unlawful"].) Saying that the jury might have convicted a defendant because of an error, however, is just another way of saying that reasonable doubt exists whether "the error complained of . . . contribute[d] to the verdict obtained." (Chapman, supra, 386 U.S. at p. 24.) And the brief statement quoted from McDonnell does not purport to overrule Neder or call into question Neder's explication of the Chapman standard: an error is harmless if it is "clear beyond a

of the instructional error. In a case such as this—which involves an unambiguous instruction—a party's argument might be relevant to whether the error is harmless. In the case of an ambiguous instruction, where the court must first determine whether there was error using the reasonable likelihood test of Boyde v. California (1990) 494 U.S. 370, 380, a party's argument may help resolve whether there was error. Thus, the assumption "that counsel's arguments clarified an ambiguous charge" "is particularly apt when it is the prosecutor's argument that resolves an ambiguity in favor of the defendant." (Middleton v. McNeil (2004) 541 U.S. 433, 438.) But the Boyde test is a test of error, not prejudice. (Calderon v. Coleman (1998) 525 U.S. 141, 146.) If one part of a party's argument did not clarify an instruction, another part might be relevant to prejudice.

reasonable doubt that a rational juror would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." (*Neder*, *supra*, 527 U.S. at p. 18.)

Lopez also cites numerous California cases that he claims support his view of United States Supreme Court jurisprudence. (OBM 40.) None of them do, however. To the contrary, Lopez's cited cases actually execute the framework outlined in *Neder* and Aledamat. In People v. Grimes (2016) 1 Cal.5th 698, for example, the erroneous exclusion of hearsay evidence negating the defendant's intent to kill was harmless as to a felony-murder special circumstance because other evidence "overwhelmingly demonstrate[d] that [the] defendant was a major participant in the offense" and "acted with reckless indifference to life." (Id. at pp. 720-721.) In contrast, the error was not harmless "at the penalty phase, when the jury was asked to fix a penalty for [the] defendant's involvement in the death of [the victim]—whether, as [he] argued, he was merely a follower . . . or, as the prosecution argued, [the] defendant was directly responsible for the planning of the murder." (Id. at p. 722.) Exclusion of the evidence was therefore prejudicial when and only when it could not reasonably have affected the jury's understanding of the evidence as a whole.

Grimes thus vividly illustrates that harmlessness turns not on a reviewing court's speculation as to what the jury actually decided, but rather more reliably on whether the strength of the evidence removed any reasonable doubt as to what that jury would have done absent the error. In *People v. Pearson* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 393, similarly, this Court found harmless the

admission of hearsay autopsy evidence because the "prosecution's evidence, apart from the autopsy evidence, overwhelmingly established the [] elements" of first degree murder and the nature of the victim's death. (Id. at pp. 463-464.) Inversely, People v. Neal (2003) 31 Cal.4th 63 held prejudicial the admission of the defendant's involuntary confessions because they were the "centerpiece of the prosecution's case in support of conviction" and the remaining evidence was not so strong as to render the confessions "unimportant in relation to everything else the jury considered." (*Id.* at pp. 86-87, internal quotation marks omitted.) And People v. Aranda (2012) 55 Cal.4th 342 expressly observed that "the harmless error inquiry for the erroneous omission of instruction on one or more elements of a crime"—the inquiry that Hedgpeth and Aledamat held applicable to alternative-theory error—"focuses *primarily* on the weight of the evidence adduced at trial." (Aranda, at p. 367, citing Neder, supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 17.)¹¹ Like Lopez's other cited authorities, then, these cases do not support his contentions but instead counsel against this Court altering the *Chapman* analysis for alternative-theory error.

¹¹ As Lopez acknowledges (OBM 40), the language from *Aranda* upon which he relies concerns the failure to instruct on reasonable doubt, which this Court explicitly distinguished from instructional error misdescribing the elements of a crime (*Aranda*, *supra*, 55 Cal.4th at p. 368).

C. Lopez Provides No Reason Why This Court Should Reconsider the Prejudice Standard It Reaffirmed in *Aledamat*

As illustrated *ante* in Arguments I.A and I.B, Lopez's protocol proposal effectively invites this Court to discard *Aledamat* and ignore the most apposite precedent from the United States Supreme Court. The protocol's second step, while correctly recognizing that "examination of the actual verdict may be sufficient to demonstrate harmlessness" (Aledamat, supra, 8 Cal.5th at p. 13), wrongly confines harmlessness to cases in which "the jury necessarily relied on a valid theory" (OBM 41, italics added) instead of encompassing cases in which the jury necessarily would have relied on a valid theory had the invalid theory not been given. The protocol's third step improperly prioritizes prosecutorial argument and juror questions over the state of the evidence in determining harmlessness, going so far as to preclude reviewing courts from even considering the evidence if any argument or question referenced the invalid theory. And the protocol's final step would deem error prejudicial merely because sufficient evidence supports the invalid theory no matter how overwhelming the evidence in favor of a valid theory.

To justify having this Court turn its back on *Aledamat* so soon after deciding it, Lopez would have to "overcome *stare decisis*—the special care [courts] take to preserve [their] precedents." (*Kisor v. Wilkie* (2019) 139 S.Ct. 2400, 2418.) "Overruling precedent is never a small matter" because "[a]dherence to precedent is a foundation stone of the rule of law." (*Id.* at p. 2422, internal quotation marks omitted.) "It promotes

the evenhanded, predictable, and consistent development of legal principles, fosters reliance on judicial decisions, and contributes to the actual and perceived integrity of the judicial process." (*Ibid.*) While "stare decisis is not an inexorable command," "any departure from the doctrine demands special justification something more than an argument that the precedent was wrongly decided." (*Ibid.*) A court deciding whether to abandon a rule from a prior case should consider "whether the rule has proven to be intolerable simply in defying practical workability . . . ; whether the rule is subject to a kind of reliance that would lend a special hardship to the consequences of overruling and add inequity to the cost of repudiation . . . ; whether related principles of law have so far developed as to have left the old rule no more than a remnant of abandoned doctrine . . . ; or whether facts have so changed, or come to be seen so differently, as to have robbed the old rule of significant application or justification." (*Planned* Parenthood of Southeastern Pa. v. Casey (1992) 505 U.S. 833, 854-855.)

Here, no factual or legal development since *Aledamat* has brought that decision into question. To the contrary, it is Lopez's protocol that conflicts with well-established precedent even beyond its dissonance with *Aledamat* and *Neder*. Particularly incongruous is the elevation of closing argument over evidence in determining harmlessness, given that juries are routinely instructed not to consider attorneys' arguments as evidence and that the Court has cited that instruction in holding harmless an improper argument. (See, e.g., *People v. Rivera* (2019) 7 Cal.5th

306, 335 [prosecutor's reference to facts not in evidence harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because, inter alia, jury was instructed that "statements made by the attorneys during the trial are not evidence"]; see also 1CT 140 [identical instruction given to jury in this case].) Because the Court has also found that a juror's consideration of improper materials can be harmless based on the strength of the evidence, it would also be incongruous for a juror's mere consideration of an improper theory to preclude any review of the evidence to determine harmlessness. (See, e.g., People v. Danks (2004) 32 Cal.4th 269, 305-309 [jurors' sharing of Bible passages with fellow jurors and conversations with pastors about deliberations was harmless based in part on "compelling penalty phase evidence"].) The Aledamat test, on the other hand, harmonizes with both this Court's prior decisions and the United States Supreme Court's decisions on harmless error.

The novel fourth step of Lopez's protocol, meanwhile, would lead to its own anomalous consequences. First, Lopez has effectively proposed that the harmlessness of a *legally* invalid should turn on whether that theory is also *factually* invalid (and harmless). (See *People v. Guiton* (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1116, 1128 [theory of guilt is factually invalid if based on insufficient evidence and is harmless if jury was presented with factually valid theory].) He provides no basis, however, for this "two wrongs make a right" approach to prejudice. Nor does he confront the absurdity of finding legal alternative-theory error to be prejudicial merely because sufficient evidence supports the

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